
 

 

1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CAMP ZION, INC. 

 12701 Door Bluff Road 

 Ellison Bay, Wisconsin 54210 

         Plaintiff,            Case No. 20 CV ______ 

     vs.             

DOOR COUNTY ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

 421 Nebraska Street 

 Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin 54235 

     and 

DOOR COUNTY 

 421 Nebraska Street 

 Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin 54235 

         Defendants 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

COMPLAINT 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

PARTIES 

1) Plaintiff Camp Zion, Inc. (“Camp”) is a non-stock, not-for-profit religious organization 

incorporated under Ch. 181, Wis. Stats., and recognized as a charitable organization exempt from 

taxation under § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, with registered principal office at 12701 

Door Bluff Road, Ellison Bay, Wisconsin 54210.  https://www.campzion.com/  The Camp director 

is Dale Stewart. 

2) Defendant Door County (“County”) is a governmental corporate body constituted 

pursuant to § 59.01, Wis. Stats., with offices at 421 Nebraska Street, Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin 

54235. https://www.doorcounty.com/ 
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3) Defendant Door County Zoning Board of Adjustment (“Board”) is a board of adjustment 

constituted by the County pursuant to § 59.694, Wis. Stats., with offices at 421 Nebraska Street, 

Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin 54235. https://www.co.door.wi.gov/231/Zoning-Board-of-Adjustment 

INTRODUCTION 

4) Since its founding in 1946, Camp Zion has continuously conducted a Christian youth 

camp on its present site in the Town of Liberty Grove in the far northwest corner of Wisconsin’s 

Door County peninsula. Photos of the Camp’s main campus are attached and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibits 1-1 – 1-4. 

5) This action arises from the Board’s July 14, 2020, denial of the Camp’s application for 

setback variances and a conditional use permit (CUP) to construct a new dining commons, meeting 

and fellowship center (the “Center”) to replace an outdated dining hall commenced in 1984 and 

completed in 1986. 

6) The Board’s denial of the Camp’s most recent variance and CUP application is the latest 

development in a long-standing pattern of governmental action prohibiting the Camp from 

constructing an updated, functional facility. Defendants’ refusal to allow construction has hindered 

and crippled the Camp’s ability to remain competitive with its peers in the recreational camping 

space, update facilities that are now decades old, accommodate the elderly and those with mobility 

issues, materially improve the guest and visitor experience, and utilize its limited resources to 

effectively pursue its religious, charitable and educational mission. 

7) Since beginning preparations to construct a new facility in 2001, the Camp has spared no 

expense and taken every conceivable action to address concerns and remove potential obstacles 

impeding construction of a new dining hall: acquiring additional land, conferring with County 

officials on recommended building sites, communicating with neighbors, hiring leading design 
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and engineering firms to prepare a 2015 proposal, performing an environmental impact study, 

engaging in a lengthy and costly CUP process in 2015 including an appeal, resuming the process 

and conferral with County officials and neighbors after the 2015 CUP was denied, acquiring yet 

more land, constructing a new private access road available to neighbors, chip-sealing the new and 

existing roads to reduce dust, selecting a new building site away from the Niagara Escarpment and 

further away from neighbors, again hiring the design and engineering firms to prepare a completely 

new proposal, designing a site plan and facility in compliance with ADA accessibility 

requirements, and preparing and submitting a new variance and CUP application in 2020. 

8) Even after the Camp’s exceptional expenditure of time and resources, the Board denied 

the Camp’s 2020 variance and CUP application, offering only scant, pretextual, and legally 

unsustainable justification. 

9) Now, nearly 20 years and over $600,000 later, the Camp has no progress to show for its 

efforts except a mountain of frustration, costs almost twice its entire annual operating budget, land 

it can’t use, the time value of its money, inflated construction costs, and the same 4-decades-old 

dining hall that was aging and marginal when the Camp began the process and is now woefully 

inadequate and a critical hindrance to Camp operations and its religious and charitable ministry. 

10) Camp Zion now challenges the Board’s July 14 denial, as well as various Door County 

Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (Ordinance) provisions related to setbacks, variances, and 

associated procedures as applied by the Board. 

11) The Camp’s federal law claims are based on the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 

Persons Act of 2000 (“RLUIPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc(a)(1), et seq.; the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 (for deprivation of rights guaranteed under the First and Fourteenth 
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Amendments, U.S. Const. amends. I and XIV); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 701 et 

seq.; and the Americans with Disability Act of 1990 (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq. 

12) The Camp’s state law claims are based on Wis. Const. art. I, §§ 1, 3, 4, and 18 and § 

59.694(10), Wis. Stats. 

13)  The Camp seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, together with damages and an award 

of its attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14) This Court has jurisdiction over the Camp’s federal claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 

and 1343. 

15) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the Camp’s claims arising under state law 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

16) This Court has jurisdiction over the Camp’s request for declaratory and injunctive relief 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. 

17) Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Wisconsin pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because the claims arose in this district and one or more Defendants are located within the district. 

ORDINANCES AT ISSUE 

18) Zoning and land use for the Camp property are governed by the Door County 

Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (Ordinance), which was enacted by the County Board of 

Supervisors in 1996 and subsequently adopted by the Liberty Grove Town Board pursuant to § 

59.69(5)(c), Stats. Ord. §§ 1.01, 1.02. The Ordinance purposes are provided at Ord. § 1.04. A copy 

of the Ordinance is attached and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

19) The County has adopted a land use map, defined zoning districts, and established 

permitted, conditional, and other uses within those districts. Ord. §§ 2.02 – 2.05. 
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20) As described below, Camp property consists of two general parcels. The first parcel is 

zoned SF30, Single Family Residential, with minimum lot size of 30,000 ft2. Ord. § 2.03(12). All 

current Camp buildings are legal non-conforming uses situated on that SF30 parcel. Ord. Ch. 9. 

21) The second parcel, on which the Camp proposes to construct the Center, is zoned HL3.5, 

Heartland, with minimum lot size of 3.5 acres. Ord. § 2.03(7). Institutional recreation camps are 

principal uses in that classification. Ord. § 2.05(3a), Table 2-14, 2-15.  

22) Other principal uses in HL3.5 districts include institutional and recreational uses such as 

schools, town halls, community centers, fire and police stations, cemeteries, churches, community 

residential facilities, camping areas, campgrounds, riding stables, outdoor recreation facilities, 

driving ranges, and retreat centers. Id.  

23) As further described below, the Camp seeks to construct the Center on its HL3.5 parcel, 

with pedestrian access from the SF30 parcel via an ADA-compliant elevated walkway. One end 

of the walkway is designed to begin at the edge of a Door Bluff Road (the “Road”), a private road 

that roughly divides the two parcels.  

24) The ADA walkway is at ground level at the Road, extends to an elevated section over a 

steep drop-off, and connects with the Center at the second (main) floor dining area. 

25) Due to the total volume of the Center, the Ordinance requires a “large building setback” 

from the Road of 205 ft., which distance may be reduced 50% by vegetative screening, for a net 

setback of 102.5 ft. Ord. §§ 3.06(4) and 3.10(4).  

26) Further, the ADA walkway is a “structure,” which the Ordinance defines as “Anything 

constructed, erected, or manufactured and placed on or in the ground.” Ord. § 13.02. Because it is 

a structure, the walkway requires a 30 ft. setback from the edge of the Road. Ord. § 3.05(4). 
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27) Finally, as more fully explained below, the Camp filed a combined application for the 

setback variances and CUP to allow construction of the Center and ADA walkway within the large 

building and private road setbacks. Variances, conditional use permits, and related procedures are 

governed by Ord. §§ 11.04, 11.06 and 11.07 - .09. 

BACKGROUND AND FACTS 

I. CAMP ZION’S CHRISTIAN MISSION 

28) Camp Zion is licensed by the State of Wisconsin as a Recreational/Educational Camp and 

is a charter member of the Christian Camp & Conference Association, which has around 900 

member camps.  

29) The Camp is a ministry and venture of faith founded in 1946 by the Christian Catholic 

Church of Zion, Illinois, with the mission of providing Christ-centered outdoor experiences for 

children, youth and adults. 

30) An early brochure printed in 1953 explains that the Camp was established “because of its 

value in helping boys and girls learn more of the love of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ,” and 

that the “first object” of the Camp included presenting “the gospel of Christ to every boy and girl 

who attends,” discussing God’s Word, and growing in “knowledge, wisdom and faith in our Lord.” 

31) The brochure states that “There is no better way to learn about God than to camp out in 

the woods with God and nature,” that “God’s marvelous creations help us to realize His wonderful 

love for us,” and that “Aside from spiritual growth, camping is character building and has great 

educational values . . . .” 

32) A member of the National Association of Evangelicals, the Church changed its name to 

Christ Community Church of Zion in 1997. 
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33) In 2017, the Camp incorporated separately and obtained its exempt recognition from the 

Internal Revenue Service. However, the Church remains the parent and owner of the Camp 

organization, which continues operation as a subsidiary and ministry of the Church. 

34) Today, almost 75 years since its founding, the Camp continues its ministry of faith 

supported by camper fees and donations, with a limited operations budget of less than $400,000 

annually. 

35) The Camp remains a distinctly Christian religious organization. Its mission is “to 

supplement the ministries of churches and other organizations by providing camping and retreat 

experiences that help participating individuals find and grow a relationship with God.” 

https://www.campzion.com/our-mission 

II. CAMP PROPERTY 

A. LOCATION AND SURROUNDING AREA 

36) Camp Zion is situated on the Niagara Escarpment, a geological formation that includes 

the Niagara River and Falls and that runs generally east-west from New York through Ontario, 

Michigan, Wisconsin, and Illinois. 

37) As stated above, the Camp is located in the far northwest corner of the Door County 

peninsula. The property consists of 31.41 contiguous acres, comprised of the SF30 parcel located 

on the eastern shore of Green Bay and the HL3.5 parcel located inland east of and adjoining the 

SF30 parcel. An overhead photo showing various parcel outlines is attached and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit 3. 

38) The SF30 parcel is 2.95 acres and is designated “12701” in Exhibit 3. It includes a section 

of Door Bluff Road, which runs north-south along the parcel’s eastern border. 
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39) The HL3.5 parcel adjoins the SF30 parcel east of the Road and consists of a number of 

separate contiguous legal parcels, which are the remaining parcels outlined in Exhibit 3. They total 

28.46 acres and are referred to collectively as the “HL3.5 parcel” for ease of reference.  

40) Nine residential shoreline lots north of the Camp also include sections of the Road, which 

terminates approximately 1,000 feet north of the Camp property at the edge of Door Bluff Park at 

the northern end of the peninsula. The entire area is heavily wooded. Overhead photos of the Camp 

property and larger area are attached and incorporated by reference as Exhibits 4-1 and 4-2. 

B. 1946 – PRESENT: SF30 PARCEL 

41) The Church founded Camp Zion in 1946 under an informal lease arrangement that 

allowed the Camp to occupy part of the Beard Farm along Door Bluff Road in exchange for picking 

cherries on the farm.  

42) In 1947, the Church purchased 1.48 adjacent shoreland acres from Adolph and Julia 

Roeser. In 1953, the Church purchased an additional 1.47 adjacent shoreland acres from Harvey 

& Clara Olson. 

43) The 2.95-acre SF30 parcel is comprised of those two purchases. Camp Zion has been 

operating uninterrupted on that parcel ever since the purchases. 

C. 1961 - PRESENT: HL3.5 PARCEL 

44) In 1961, the Church entered into a written lease agreement with Richard and Walter 

Hannenberg for approximately 3 adjoining acres east of the SF30 parcel. 

45) The 3 acres include a large open area generally known as the “playfield,” which is the 

only unforested area in the vicinity and is used by the Camp for general recreation, team 

competitions, star-gazing, skills classes, and other group and outdoor activities. 
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46) Outdoor and group activities are essential to any successful youth camp, and the open 

playfield area is an indispensable “hub” location around which the Camp has designed and 

conducted vital programming for 6 decades. 

47) The lease arrangement remained in effect for 39 years until September, 2001, when the 

Camp purchased approximately 14.5 adjoining acres from the Hannenbergs, including the 3-acre 

playfield and the section of Door Bluff Road running through the acreage.  

48) In 2004, the Camp gifted approximately 0.4 acres of the 14.5 acres to neighbors, leaving 

approximately 14.1 acres zoned HL3.5. 

49) In 2007, another neighbor donated 2.35 adjoining acres to the Camp. In 2016, the Camp 

purchased another 12.01 adjoining acres from the Hannenbergs, bringing the total contiguous 

HL3.5 land to 28.46 acres. 

III. CAMP FACILITIES 

50) Like other religious and secular organizations, the Camp began small in the early years 

with the limited resources the Church had available. Camp programming was held primarily in the 

summers and served both Church young people and other youth invited as part of the Church’s 

ministry and outreach. 

51) Also like other religious and secular organizations, and consistent with the Church’s 

independent, non-denominational polity and evangelical Christian vision, the Camp has grown 

over the decades, and now has year-round programming through which the Church serves its own 

members, other Christian ministries of like faith and practice, and their guests. 

52) Over its 70+ year history, the Camp has routinely added, replaced and improved facilities 

to accommodate its growing ministry, and now has a total of 10 buildings, together with multiple 

accessory recreational and service facilities.  
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53) With the exception of a State of Wisconsin-approved above-ground fuel tank located on 

the east side of Door Bluff Road, all buildings, recreational facilities and other improvements on 

the campus are located west side of the Road on the SF30 parcel. 

A. 1948 - 1984:  EARLY CONSTRUCTION 

54) The Camp’s first permanent building was a mess hall, which was constructed in 1947 and 

torn down in 1987 after construction of the current two-story dining hall and staff quarters building 

(currently known as the “Dining Hall”) was finished in 1986. 

55) The Camp office, known as May’s Place, was constructed around 1952, and Bayview 

Lodge was constructed about a year later in 1953. 

56) Four summer cabins were constructed in 1954, two of which have since been removed. 

57) Another cabin known as Annex Cabin was constructed in 1969, and another cabin and 

storage facility known as Jim’s Place was constructed in 1978. 

B. 1984: DINING HALL 

58) In 1984, the Camp applied for a CUP to construct the Dining Hall on the SF30 parcel. 

The proposed building footprint was 3,778 ft2, with a kitchen area and dining commons seating 94 

on the first floor, and four sleeping rooms on the second. A 757 f t2 deck was later added, bringing 

the approximate total footprint to 4,535 ft2.  

59) The only objection during the 1984 approval process was from two adjoining neighbors, 

who were concerned about traffic, parking, and access to their property over a common driveway 

with the Camp. When the County Resource Planning Committee approved the CUP, those 

neighbors appealed to the Board. 
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60) Before the Board ruled on their appeal, however, the neighbors reached a satisfactory 

agreement with the Camp that the Camp would not construct additional parking spaces next to the 

Dining Hall or modify the shared driveway. 

61) Construction proceeded according to plan, and the building was completed in 1986. Upon 

information and belief, no updated CUP restricting construction of parking spaces was ever issued 

by the County. 

62) At some point thereafter, two parking spaces were constructed adjacent to the building 

for the purpose of complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act shortly after it was enacted 

in 1990. 

63) In a letter supporting the Camp’s current application, the neighbors noted there have never 

been any difficulties with the spaces in the 30 years since, and in fact, the two are very supportive 

of the Camp. 

C. 2001:  FIRESIDE DORM 

64) In 2001, the Camp applied for a CUP to construct a new dormitory on the SF30 parcel. 

Known as the Fireside Lodge, the dormitory is similar to the 1984 Dining Hall, with a footprint of 

approximately 5,696 ft2, sleeping areas on the second floor, and multipurpose sleeping and meeting 

areas on the first floor. 

65) The Resource Planning Committee granted the CUP without any objection from 

neighbors or the public, and construction was completed in 2004. The Fireside Lodge is the last 

facility the Board has permitted the Camp to construct on any of its property. 
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IV. 2015: SF30 GATHERING PLACE PROPOSAL 

A. 2001 – 2015:  PLANNING FOR CAPACITY 

66) As explained above, large group activities involving all campers are integral to youth 

camp philosophy and programming generally and to Christian youth camping in particular. 

Construction of the Fireside Lodge was a major milestone in the Camp’s development, and met a 

desperate need for a modern facility to accommodate large group programming. 

67) But by the early 2000’s, the 1984 Dining Hall and its 94-person capacity were clearly 

dated and inadequate. The Camp desperately needed a modern, functional, and attractive 

dining/meeting facility because those inadequacies were (and continue to be) a substantial 

limitation and burden on the Camp’s religious ministry. 

68) Consequently, in the mid-2000s, the Camp began exploring construction of a new facility 

capable of accommodating meals, meetings, fellowship, and other indoor activities in which all 

campers could participate together. 

69) In anticipation, the Camp had purchased the Hannenbergs’ 14.5 acres in 2001 at a cost of 

$175,000. And after consulting with engineering and architectural professionals and conducting 

their own internal assessment and strategic planning, the Church and Camp began planning for a 

new facility on the HL3.5 parcel. 

70) Director Stewart began discussions with County zoning and planning staff in 2008, and 

the Camp later retained Fletemeyer & Lee, a nationally recognized firm specializing in recreational 

camp design, and Baudhuin Surveying & Engineering, a well-established and respected Door 

County engineering firm. 

71) Although the HL3.5 parcel was the site initially contemplated, the Camp eventually 

developed a proposal for the SF30 parcel after discussions with Door County Senior Zoning 
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Administrator Dave Sautebin and Assistant Zoning Administrator Rick Brauer, who indicated that 

construction was feasible on the SF30 parcel. 

72) The camp also requested Mr. Sautebin to visit the Camp to determine allowable capacity 

on the SF30 parcel. Mr. Sautebin concluded that capacity was 140 persons, which he re-confirmed 

in a letter to the Camp in 2012. Director of Land Use Services Mariah Goode also confirmed the 

140 person capacity in July, 2018. 

73) In 2008, the Camp constructed Door Bluff Lane, a completely new access road running 

east and north of the playfield area, allowing neighbors residing north of the Camp to avoid driving 

on Door Bluff Road entirely. 

74) The Camp team continued communicating with County staff and area businesses and 

residents, and eventually developed detailed plans to construct a facility to be called the Gathering 

Place, which the Camp believed addressed both County and state zoning and building code 

requirements and concerns of area residents. 

75) Final plans provided a 6,400 ft2 building footprint, with dining and meeting facilities on 

first and second floors capable of accommodating the 140-person allowable capacity. 

B. 2015:  GATHERING PLACE PROPOSAL 

76) The Camp finally filed a CUP application with the County in May, 2015. Following 

Ordinance procedure, the application was first submitted to the Liberty Grove Town Board for 

advisory review. 

77) The Camp enjoyed broad community support, and the project was unanimously approved 

by the Town Board. The application was then submitted to the Door County Resource Planning 

Committee, which also approved it. 
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78) During the planning process, however, area resident Mike Bahrke began organizing 

opposition to the Camp’s application. He and several other area residents appealed to the Board, 

which overturned the Committee decision and denied the Camp’s application. 

79) Over the 8+ years spent developing and seeking approval of the Gathering Place proposal, 

the costs to the Camp were enormous, including over $110,000 expended for professional fees and 

vendor services, in addition to countless personnel hours and internal costs – amounting to more 

than 25% of the Camp’s annual budget.  

V. 2020: HL3.5 CENTER PROPOSAL 

A. 2015 – 2019:  PLANNING AND RESPONSE TO BOARD OBJECTIONS 

80) Under § 59.694(10), Stats., the Camp was entitled to bring a certiorari action challenging 

the Board’s decision. 

81) However, despite the enormous expenditure of time and resources related to the 

Gathering Place proposal that burdened Camp resources and stressed operations, the Camp 

declined to challenge the Board’s decision. 

82) Instead, being a good County resident and neighbor, the Camp has spent over $320,000 

in the last 5 years to develop and submit the alternate proposal for the Center. 

83) The Camp again retained the Fletemeyer and Baudhuin firms, and engaged in ongoing 

dialog with the Town Planning Commission, Town Board, County Land Use Services Department, 

area businesses and property owners, donors, and legal counsel. 

84) Plans were finally completed in early 2020. Copies of the site plan, various elevations, 

and concept drawings were included in the application, attached and incorporated by referenced 

as Exhibits 5-1 – 5-6. 
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85) Among other things, the Camp spent over $250,000 just responding to the Board and 

opposing residents, who had expressed the following concerns about the Gathering Place proposal 

in 2015: 

i. The Camp did not own enough land to meet the 5-person per acre limit under the 

1996 Ordinance applied to the Camp’s land as a whole; 

ii. The project would expand use of the SF30 parcel; 

iii. Door Bluff Lane was unpaved and might be too dusty with possible additional 

traffic related to increased occupancy and use; 

iv. Building on the SF30 site would damage the Niagara Escarpment; 

v. The building was too close (75’) to the nearest northern neighbor; and 

vi. The building was too large, with a footprint of 6,400 ft2. 

86) The Camp addressed the first objection in 2016, by purchasing the adjoining 12.01 acres 

at a total cost exceeding $125,000. That purchase brought the SF30 and HL3.5 parcels to a 

combined 31.41 acres total, enough to meet the new Ordinance limit, even if applied to the Camp’s 

land as a whole. 

87) The Camp addressed the second objection by siting the new Center on the HL3.5 parcel 

east of Door Bluff Road, avoiding any expansion of the SF30 legal, non-conforming use. 

88) The Camp team chose that location because it is the only land within the HL3.5 parcel 

designated by the County as “Institution-Government” on its Future Land Use Map 9.1(C), 

adopted in 2014 as part of the Door County Comprehensive and Farmland Preservation Plan 2035 

(the Comprehensive Plan). The entire rest of the HL3.5 parcel is designated “Woodland-Wetland-

Natural.” https://www.co.door.wi.gov/DocumentCenter/View/2954/Complete-Plan-and-Maps, p. 

87, also available at http://map.co.door.wi.us/map/. A copy of Map 9.1(C) is attached and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 6. 
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89) The Comprehensive Plan states that although the “[f]uture land use category designations 

are not intended to serve as zoning designations,” they nevertheless serve as “indicators of desired 

types of development and land uses.” Comprehensive Plan, p. 56.  

90) Further, in April, 2017, during the conceptual planning phase, Dale Stewart and Baudhuin 

engineer Steve Parent met at the Camp with Rick Brauer, and recall Mr. Brauer expressing how 

peaceful the proposed site was and agreeing that it was the best location for the Center and that 

placing the Center there would limit visibility and should not be objectionable to any of the 

neighbors. 

91) The Camp team also reviewed the Comprehensive Plan and Ordinance and determined 

that, consistent with Map 9.1(C), the proposed Center location is optimal for preserving the natural 

environment and forested land and achieving other Ordinance objectives.  

92) The Camp addressed the Board and opponents’ third concern of fear of dust from 

increased traffic by chip-sealing both Door Bluff Road and Lane and offering use of the Lane to 

neighbors residing north of the Camp so they could avoid using Door Bluff Road entirely. 

93) Regarding the fourth and fifth objections, the new proposed Center is sited 378’ away 

from the Niagara Escarpment, avoiding any risk of damage, and over 260’ from the nearest 

residential neighbor (who happens to support the Center proposal). 

94) Finally, the new Center footprint is reduced to 6,137 ft2, less than 0.5 % of the total HL3.5 

parcel area, and comparable to the 1984 Dining Hall (4,535 ft2), and the 2001 Fireside Lodge 

(5,696 ft2). And as explained below, “tucking” the building into the drop-off slope minimizes the 

view of the ground level and the visual “mass” of the building as a whole.  
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B. CENTER FOOTPRINT AND ELEVATED ADA WALKWAY 

95) As explained above, the Camp seeks to construct the elevated ADA walkway and Center 

within the structure and large building setbacks because that site the only area in the HL3.5 parcel 

designated by the County as Institution-Government. 

96) The Center design harmonizes with the area topography, including the severe changes in 

elevation. Door Bluff Road is constructed at the general level of the existing SF30 Camp buildings, 

but the drop to the playfield level where the Center is located is precipitous, ranging from 15 - 22’ 

at a 25 - 30% grade. (Young campers actually use the drop-off for snow-tubing during winter 

retreats.) 

97) Repeated descent and ascent between the SF30 buildings and Center throughout the day 

for meals and activities would be impractical even for youth campers, difficult for older guests, 

and impossible for the elderly and disabled.  

98) Again, as explained above, the Fletemeyer firm solved the drop-off problem by designing 

the Center with the dining and kitchen areas located on the main floor second story at the same 

elevation as the Road, and with the ADA-compliant elevated walkway extending from the Road 

to the Center’s main floor entry. 

99) The site plan also “tucks” the Center into the hillside at the bottom of the drop-off, with 

less than 30% of the building actually inside the reduced 102.5 ft. large building setback. 

100) Tucking the building keeps the ground level first floor below ordinary sight lines from 

the Road, where it would be inconspicuous from neighboring properties and the Road, if noticed 

at all. The single-story view would be substantially less obtrusive than the two-story Dining Hall 

on the SF30 parcel, more similar to the Fireside Lodge, which is also tucked into a hill. 
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101) Further, the proposed footprint location within the designated Institution-Government 

area is in closest proximity to the rest of the campus, which reduces sprawl. It also minimizes 

clearing of forested areas, preserves as much playfield green space as possible for essential group 

games and activities, and generally respects and follows good architectural practice and design 

sensibilities. 

C. RESIDENT COMPLAINT AND REMOVAL OF ADA-COMPLIANT DINING HALL PARKING. 

102) Throughout the planning process, Mr. Bahrke filed multiple complaints with County staff 

against the Camp, complaining in 2019 that the two ADA-compliant parking spaces added near 

the Dining Hall in 1990 violated the 1984 CUP. 

103) County staff subsequently issued an order that the spaces be removed. The Camp 

complied, even though the neighbors with whom the Camp had the 1984 agreement had not 

complained in almost 30 years, and the CUP was never actually amended to remove the spaces. 

104) Unfortunately, removing those spaces now leaves the Dining Hall in violation of the 

ADA, making it even more imperative that the Camp be permitted to construct an ADA-compliant 

walkway for accessing the dining and meeting facilities in the Center. 

VI. JULY 7, 2020: BOARD HEARING  

105) The Camp and Fletemeyer completed the Center design in early 2020. On March 9, the 

Camp filed the combined application for a CUP and variance from the structure and large building 

setbacks. Exhibit 5-1 – 5-6. 

106) Under the Ordinance, the variance application is considered first, before the CUP 

application. Also per the Ordinance, the Town scheduled an advisory hearing on April 22. 

However, the Town canceled the hearing without rescheduling under threat from Mr. Bahrke’s 
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legal counsel to sue the Town on grounds that some members of the public might not be able to 

attend a virtual hearing.  

107) The County then scheduled a hearing for the variance application on June 9, 2020 

However, Mr. Bahrke’s counsel again objected, arguing that public notice of the matter was 

inadequate because the application listed the Camp’s street address and not the correct tax key 

number of the HL3.5 parcel, where the Center was to be constructed. 

108) On June 9, the Board proceeded with two prior matters, but then adjourned the hearing 

on the Camp’s matter until July 7, citing technical issues. 

109) The County re-issued the notice with correct tax key numbers, and the variance hearing 

proceeded on July 7. The hearing was conducted virtually and lasted over 5 hours. Unfortunately, 

County staff have advised that the County maintained only an audio recording of the hearing and 

that no video recording exists. 

110) Consequently, the County adjourned the hearing until July 7 and re-issued the public 

notice. The hearing was conducted virtually and lasted over 5 hours. Unfortunately, County staff 

have advised that the County maintained only an audio recording of the hearing and that no video 

recording exists. 

111) At the hearing, the Camp noted that the Board had previously granted setback variances 

in number of comparable cases. Four cases were along the same section of Door Bluff Road, in 

which the Board determined that the natural topography created a hardship: (i) the Hahn property 

at 12699 Door Bluff Road, granted November 11, 2014, (ii) the Buechi property at 12727 Door 

Bluff Road, granted July 1, 1992, (iii) the Passow property at 12668 Door Bluff Road, granted 

February 24, 2015, and (iv) the Wall property at 12765 Door Bluff Road, granted May 12, 2020. 
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112) The Camp also advised the Board of the setback variance granted to the Wagon Trail 

resort on April 23, 2013. In that case, despite unanimous votes of the Liberty Grove Town Plan 

Commission and Board recommendation that it be denied, the Board granted a variance to 

construct a zipline that was located near neighboring residences and crossed the boundary between 

two parcels owned by different parties.  

113) During the July 7 hearing, Board members openly speculated about alternative locations 

for the Center, pointing as they spoke to possible locations on the HL3.5 parcel, even asking 

opponents whether they would object to those other locations. 

114) The only alternative locations any of the Board members pointed to or considered were 

in the areas designated Woodland-Wetland-Natural designated on Map 9.1(C), outside the 

Institution-Government area, and outside any practical proximity to the Road and the existing 

Camp buildings on the SF30 parcel. 

115) The alternative location closest to the Camp’s Center site proposed by any Board member 

was in the center of the north end of the playfield parcel. Besides being outside the Institution-

Government area, that location is still an impractical distance from the SF30 buildings. It would 

make the entire two-story Center visible and obtrusive from the Road, deprive the Camp of a 

significant part of the playfield area, and require clearing of an entire acre of forested land.  

116) Further, the ADA requires that disabled persons have access to the Center comparable to 

that available to the non-disabled. Board members speculated at length whether the Camp could 

provide disabled access over Door Bluff Lane or by constructing a pedestrian ramp at some other 

point along Door Bluff Road.  

117) The Camp explained that the drop-off extends along the entire length of Door Bluff Road, 

including at the intersection of the Road and Door Bluff Lane. And though the Lane is graded, the 
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grade is still excessively steep and dangerous for the disabled, besides increasing the distance from 

the SF30 buildings to the Center by hundreds of yards.  

118) The Camp also explained that a ramp is also “structure” under the Ordinance and would 

still require the same variance from the 30’ setback as the ADA walkway.  

119) Worse, because of the steep drop-off, an ADA-compliant ramp at acceptable grade would 

have to be a minimum of 350’ long, constructed in switchback fashion. And again, as explained 

above, going back and forth between the SF30 buildings and the Center on such a ramp numerous 

times each day for meals, meetings and activities would be impractical even for young people, 

difficult for older campers and guests, and impossible for the elderly and disabled. 

120) Apart from the functional problems, such a ramp would also require extensive clearing 

of forested areas on the drop-off and the Woodland-Wetland-Natural areas bordering the playfield, 

creating a hideous blight on the natural topography and posing serious health and safety risks in 

inclement weather, especially to the elderly and disabled. 

121) When the Camp pointed out these issues, counsel for Mr. Bahrke argued that the Camp 

could transport the disabled by vehicle (contradicting Mr. Bahrke himself, who argued that the 

construction of the Center or any other project at all would unacceptably increase use and vehicular 

traffic).  

122) At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board voted unanimously to deny the variance. 

VII. JULY 14, 2020: FINAL DECISION AND FILING 

123) At its meeting held July 14, 2020, the Board approved a final Decision and Worksheet 

denying the variance application. Copies of the Meeting Minutes, Decision and Decision 

Worksheet are attached and incorporated as Exhibit 7. 
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124) The Decision states that the Camp’s application does not meet the variance criteria 

provided in § 59.694(7), Stats., which are summarized in the Worksheet: (1) Unique Physical 

Property Limitations, (2) Unnecessary Hardship, (3) Public Interest/Spirit and Intent of Ordinance. 

125) Regarding Criterion 1., the Board apparently conceded that the steep drop-off is a unique 

physical limitation of the HL3.5 parcel, but relied on the argument of Mr. Bahrke’s counsel, 

concluding that the Facility could be constructed outside the setback because “ADA compliance 

could be achieved by other means, such as special transport vehicles.” 

126) Similarly, regarding Criterion 2., the Board found no unnecessary hardship because 

“Transport of ADA campers could be used.” 

127) Regarding Criterion 3., after consulting with County corporation counsel, the Board voted 

3 – 1 with one abstention to strike a sentence from the explanation regarding building size: “The 

size of the proposed building is out of character with other buildings in this area,” and to accept 

the decision document and the Worksheet as amended.” 

128) However, the Board did not strike a subsequent reference to building size: “The public 

interest is served by the camp’s mission and the experience, but the magnitude and the effects of 

this size building are not in the best interests of the public within the neighboring residential area.”   

https://www.co.door.wi.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Agenda/_07282020-686 

129) The Decision also states that the variances are not necessary to afford accessibility under 

ADA because other approaches provide reasonable accommodations such as administrative permit 

or waiver or “some other way.” 

130) However, administrative permits and exemptions are available only for disabled persons 

themselves, not for non-profit organizations. Wis. Admin. Code NR § 118.09. Further, the Board’s 

finding that the Center could be sited on an alternative locations precludes exemptions for ADA-

Case 1:20-cv-01248-WCG   Filed 08/14/20   Page 22 of 29   Document 1

https://www.co.door.wi.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Agenda/_07282020-686


 

 

23 

compliant ramps and other structures under the Ordinance, which provides that they are available 

only where “no feasible alternative locations exist.” Ord. § 3.06(2)(g). 

131) Finally, the Decision states, with little supporting details, that RLUIPA is not violated 

because the setback ordinance (Ord. § 3.6) is facially neutral, the “comparators” presented by the 

Camp are not comparable, the Camp failed to establish a “substantial burden” on religious 

exercise, the alleged burden is merely a matter of “convenience,” and feasible alternatives exist to 

the structure proposed. 

VIII. EFFECT ON CAMP ZION’S PROGRAM AND MISSION 

132) The 2020 County order to remove the parking spaces adjoining the 1984 Dining Hall has 

rendered that facility non-compliant with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

133) The 1984 Dining Hall is outdated and cannot accommodate the Camp’s allowable 

capacity for meals and meetings. The Camp must renovate its facilities to remain competitive 

within the recreational camping space. 

134) The Camp has spent $300,000 to acquire additional land for its programming and mission 

that it still cannot use. 

135) The Camp has spent over $300,000 total since 2015 to address the concerns of the County 

and a few of the Camp’s neighbors, and to design and re-design a new dining hall, with no success. 

Those valuable resources were diverted from other possible uses to improve the Camp and benefit 

camp visitors. 

136) Requiring the Camp to submit serial applications to discover piecemeal what location the 

Board might find acceptable for construction of a dining and meeting facility is an irrational, 

extraordinarily expensive, time-consuming and burdensome game of bureaucratic hide-the-ball. 
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137) While descent to the playfield level by a lengthy ramp may be possible for young people 

entering or leaving the Center, traversing those distances multiple time per day for meals and group 

activities and meetings would be unnecessarily burdensome to Camp programming, and would be 

difficult and potentially dangerous or impossible for elderly and disabled campers and guests. 

138) The cost of acquiring, maintaining and operating a properly equipped vehicle with 

properly trained staff to transport disabled and elderly campers and guests to and from the Center 

multiple times per day would create a substantial economic burden on the Camp and significantly 

increase traffic on both Door Bluff Road and Door Bluff Lane.  

139) The disruption of transporting disabled and elderly campers and guests to and from the 

Center multiple times per day would impose a substantial logistical burden on Camp staff and 

disrupt Camp programming. 

140) Transporting disabled campers and guests to and from the Facility multiple times per day 

would be a substantial burden on the Camp’s ultimate religious and social mission, needlessly and 

cruelly isolating and stigmatizing disabled campers, depriving them of the use of their own 

mechanized wheelchairs which they utilize in virtually every other kind of ADA-compliant setting 

and depriving them of the experience, camaraderie and normalcy of accompanying other campers 

to and from campus destinations. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

I. RLUIPA: SUBSTANTIAL BURDEN 

141) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

142) The Ordinance and its application by the Board are land use regulations of the Camp’s 

land within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-5(5). 
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143) The County and Board is each a “government” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-

5(4)(A). 

144) The Camp’s historic, current, and proposed use of its property are religious exercises 

within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-5(7). 

145) The Board refused to employ its discretion to alleviate the burden on the Camp’s religious 

exercise, as permitted by 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-3(e). 

146) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained of substantially burden the Camp’s religious exercise in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

2000cc(a). 

147) Requiring the Camp to locate its Facility elsewhere and utilize specialized transport to 

provide access for handicapped, infirm and/or elderly persons does not further a compelling 

governmental interest by the least restrictive means under 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(1)(A) and (B). 

II. RLUIPA: UNREASONABLE LIMITATION 

148) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

149) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained of unreasonably limit the Camp’s religious exercise in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

2000cc(b)(3)(B). 

III. RLUIPA: DISPARATE TREATMENT 

150) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

151) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained of constitute treatment of the Camp on less than equal terms in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000cc(b)(1). 
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IV. REHABILITATION ACT 

152) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

153) The County receives federal funding predicate to application of the Rehabilitation Act. 

154) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained of violate the Rehabilitation Act, 42 U.S.C. § 794. 

V. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 

155) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

156) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained of violate the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 et seq. 

VI. FIRST AMENDMENT: RELIGIOUS EXERCISE, SPEECH AND ASSEMBLY 

157) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

158) Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the 

variance, and other actions complained of constitute a particularized and not general application 

of the Ordinance, and violate Camp’s rights to exercise its religion, speak, and/or assemble 

guaranteed by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

VII. FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT: EQUAL PROTECTION  

159) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

160) Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the 

variance, and other actions complained violate the Camp’s rights to equal protection of the law 

guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

VIII. FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT: DUE PROCESS  

161) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 
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162) Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the 

variance, and other actions complained violate the Camp’s rights to procedural and substantive 

due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

163) Particularly, requiring the Camp to submit serial applications attempting to discover 

piecemeal without reasonable certainty what location the Board might find acceptable and denying 

the application to construct the Center on land officially designated as appropriate for Institution-

Government use denies the Camp both procedural and substantive due process. 

IX. WISC. CONST. ART. I SEC. 1: EQUAL PROTECTION 

164) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

165) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

166) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained violate the Camp’s rights to equal protection of the law guaranteed by Article I, Sec. 

1 of the Wisconsin Constitution. 

X. WISC. CONST. ART. I SEC. 1: DUE PROCESS 

167) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

168) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

169) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained violate the Camp’s rights to procedural and substantive due process guaranteed by 

Article I, Sec. 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution. 

XI. WISC. CONST. ART. I SECS. 3, 4 AND 18: SPEECH, ASSEMBLY, RIGHTS OF CONSCIENCE 

170) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

171) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 
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172) The Board’s application of the Ordinance, denial of the variance, and other actions 

complained violate the Camp’s rights to exercise its religion and conscience, speak and assemble 

guaranteed by Article I, Secs. 3, 4 and 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution. 

XII. SEC. WIS. STAT. § 59.694(10): CERTIORARI 

173) Camp Zion incorporates the preceding allegations by reference. 

174) The Decision was filed on July 15, 2020. Pursuant to § 59.694(10), Stats., persons 

aggrieved by the Decision may file an action for certiorari review within 30 days of filing. 

175) This Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

176) Review is based on the record of the administrative proceedings and hearing before the 

Board, which the Board must forward to the court in response to the certiorari. However, the court 

may take additional evidence if necessary for proper disposition of the matter. 

177) In applying the Ordinance, denying the variance, and engaging in the other actions 

complained of, the Board (1) failed to act according to law, (2) acted unreasonably and (3) made 

a decision not reasonably supported by the evidence.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Camp Zion, Inc. prays the Court to grant relief as follows: 

1. Declare the Board Decision and the Ordinance as applied in violation of the United States 

and Wisconsin Constitutions; 

2. Declare the Board Decision and the Ordinance as applied in violation of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act and Rehabilitation Act; 

3. Enter a permanent injunction against Defendants, their agents, employees and officers to 

grant the variance and permit construction of the Center as described in this Complaint; 

4. Award the Camp compensatory and punitive damages; 
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5. Award the Camp its costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 (b); and  

6. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems proper. 

 

JURY DEMAND 

 Pursuant to FRCP 38, Plaintiff demands trial of this action by jury. 

 

Dated August 14, 2020. 

 

  Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 

MICHAEL D. DEAN, LLC 

 

 
___________________________________ 

Michael D. Dean, SBN 01019171 

P.O. Box 2545 

Brookfield, WI  53008 

(262) 798-8044 

miked@michaelddeanllc.com 
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